THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 28 2021**

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Post Conviction Relief

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2020-000590

---

Tamar Yaron Bryant,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina

Respondent.

---

PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Tricia A. Blanchette  
Post Office Box 2147  
Leesville, SC 29070  
(803) 908-3266  
Attorney for Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

- I. Whether the lower court erred in failing to grant a new trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to enter an objection or exception to the jury instruction on malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law. *Smalls v. State*, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. *Webb v. State*, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate court "will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law." *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment from the Georgetown County Clerk of Court. He was indicted during the May 2011 term of the Georgetown County Grand Jury for one count of murder (2011-GS-22-00495). App. p. 334. Petitioner was represented by Ronald W. Hazzard, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Erin Bailey, Esquire.

On September 2, 2012, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Steven H. John for a hearing on defense counsel's motion for a mental health evaluation pursuant to *State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981) and *M'Naughten's Case*, 8 Eng. Rep. 718 (1843). App. p. 337. After questioning Petitioner, Judge John denied counsel's request for a mental health evaluation. App. p. 342-343. At the close of the hearing, the court addressed bond being set and the scheduling of the case for trial. App. pp. 343-345.

On December 17, 2012, Petitioner appeared in front of the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson for a hearing on defense counsel's motion for bond reduction and a renewed request for mental health evaluations. App. p. 347. During the hearing, Judge Culbertson agreed with Judge John that there was not a need for a mental evaluation. App. p. 362. Then, he addressed the bond issue and the scheduling of the case for trial. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Culbertson set a surety bond with conditions. App. p. 371.

On March 18, 2013, Petitioner proceeded to trial in front of the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. and a jury. App. p. 1. On March 20, 2013, the jury returned a guilty verdict, and the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. sentenced Petitioner to a term of thirty-five (35) years. App. pp. 325, 331.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. The direct appeal was perfected by David Alexander, Esquire. The Brief of Appellant addressed the following issue:

Whether the trial court's refusal to order a mental competency examination was erroneous since it was based on an improper consideration, a mistake of fact and the State consented to the evaluation?

App. p. 373, 376. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence in an opinion filed on December 3, 2014. *State v. Bryant*, Op. No. 2014-UP-440 (S.C. Ct. App. filed on December 3, 2014); App. p. 418. The Remittitur was issued on December 19, 2014. App. p. 420.

An Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed on December 9, 2015. App. p. 421. The State submitted a Return on February 5, 2016. App. p. 428. Petitioner, through counsel, filed an Amendment on August 27, 2018, which alleged that his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as pursuant to Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, were violated prior to and during his trial. App. p. 434. He also amended his Application for Post-Conviction Relief to contain the following specific allegations of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to properly advise Applicant regarding and utilize Applicant as a witness at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for the handling of the witness, Shaquetta Holmes.
3. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to enter an objection or exception to the jury instruction on malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction. *Gibson v. State*, 416 S.C. 260, 786 S.E.2d 121 (2016).
4. Ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to enter an objection or exception to the Court's comments, specifically, but not limited to comments regarding searching for the truth to the jury.

5. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failure to raise all meritorious issues on appeal, specifically, but not limited to:
  - a. The admissibility of Applicant's interrogation / confession.
6. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCP, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

App. pp. 434-435.

An evidentiary hearing was convened on March 15, 2019 at the Georgetown County Courthouse in front of the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr. App. p. 436. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Johnny Ellis James, Jr., Assistant Attorney General. During the course of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified and called Ronald W. Hazzard, Esquire, and David Alexander, Esquire, to testify. Petitioner introduced three exhibits. App. p. 502-503.

On December 5, 2019, an Order of Dismissal was issued and filed on December 20, 2019. App. p. 504. Petitioner timely submitted a Motion, pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP, on January 28, 2020. App. p. 531. An Order denying Petitioner's motion was issued on March 6, 2020 and filed on March 9, 2020, from which this appeal follows. App. pp. 536-537.

## ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Id.* 466 U.S. at 686; *see Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Bell v. State*, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); *see also Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 238 (1989).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117–18.

- I. The lower court erred in failing to grant a new trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to enter an objection or exception to the jury instruction on malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction.

By way of the Amendment and at the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object and/or enter an exception to the inferred malice instruction for lacking the general permissive inference instruction. At trial, the court charged, in pertinent part, as follows:

Malice aforethought may be express or inferred. These terms expressed and inferred do not mean different kinds of malice, but merely the manner in which malice may be shown to exist, that is either by direct evidence or by inference from the facts and the circumstances which are proved. Expressed malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hatred or ill will for another or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished; for example, lying in wait for a person or any other acts of preparation going to show that the deed was in the Defendant's mind would be express malice. Malice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life.

App. p. 316, ln. 18 – p. 317, ln. 5. As the record reflects, counsel did not object to this portion of the charge or enter an exception to the jury charge. App. pp. 316-317, 320.

An inferred malice charge has two components, the charge detailing the circumstances from which malice can be inferred and the general permissive malice instruction. The trial court's charge on murder lacks the general permissive inference instruction that is required when a judge charges the jury on inferred malice:

If facts, are proved beyond a reasonable doubt, sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, this inference would be simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, the jury, along with other evidence in the case, and you may give it such weight as you determine it should receive.

*State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810, fn. 9 (2009). While *Belcher* deals specifically with a charge that permits the inference of malice from the use of a

deadly weapon, this Court has stated that all inferences should be accompanied by the general permissive inference instruction. *See State v. Mattison*, 276 S.C. 235, 238 277 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1981) (“[W]e strongly suggest to the Trial Bench that a more appropriate instruction on implied malice would deal with the evidentiary nature of the presumption and that the implication does not require the jury to infer malice but only permits it”), *overruled on other grounds by Belcher*.

Dating back to 1983, in *State v. Elmore*, 279 S.C. 417, 421, 308 S.E.2d 781, 784 (1983), this Court set forth a standard permissive inference charge to be used when instructing the jury on the inference of malice:

The law says if one intentionally kills another with a deadly weapon, the implication of malice may arise. If facts, are proved beyond a reasonable doubt, sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, this inference would be simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, the jury, along with other evidence in the case, and you may give it such weight as you determine it should receive.

After promulgating the standard charge, the following warning was issued: “We caution the bench, that hereafter only slight deviations from this charge will be tolerated.” *Id.*

In *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), this Court explained that *Elmore*’s first sentence constituted “[t]he standard implied malice charge” whereas the second sentence constituted “the general permissive inference instruction.” 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 811, fn. 9. Since *Elmore*, South Carolina’s appellate courts have repeatedly instructed trial courts to give the general permissive inference charge when the standard implied malice instruction is given. *See State v. Lewellyn*, 281 S.C. 199, 201, 314 S.E.2d 326, 327 (1984) (“The trial bench is reminded that the proper charge on implied malice is that suggested in *Elmore*.”), *State v. Peterson*, 287 S.C. 244, 247, 335 S.E.2d 899, 802 (1985) (“The judge should make it clear to the jury that it is free to

accept or reject these permissive inferences depending on its view of the evidence.”); *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 811, fn. 9 (2009) (distinguishing the standard implied malice charge from the general permissive inference charge); *State v. Wilds*, 355 S.C. 269, 277, 584 S.E.2d 138, 142 (Ct. App. 2003) (“In a charge to the jury, the judge should make clear to the jury that it is free to accept or reject the permissive inferences depending on its view of the evidence.”).

Also, in *Belcher*, this Court concluded that the inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon is a “half-truth” because “[o]ther facts and evidence (or the absence of other facts and evidence) are required for the fulfillment of [malice’s] component parts” which “include the absence of justification, excuse and mitigation.” *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 609-10, 685 S.E.2d at 808. Similarly, the blanket instruction that malice can be inferred from conduct that shows a total disregard for human life conveys a half-truth because there are circumstances where an individual would act in such a way with justification, excuse or mitigation. Accordingly, Petitioner submits the permissive inference instruction is required when the “total disregard” inference charge is given.

By way of the Order of Dismissal, the lower court erroneously determined:

The general permissive inference of malice portion of the *Elmore* is only necessary and required as part of a complete instruction on the inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon, and there had never been any requirement to charge the language in a stand-alone fashion. The language of the *Elmore* charge is specifically tailored to deal with the perceived and real dangers in instructing the jury that inference may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon, and represents a solution to then-recurring problem of jury instructions which provided for burden-shifting presumptions in violation of the United States Constitution. The second part of the *Elmore* charge serves as a cautionary restraint on the first part, and is of little instructional value standing alone. Standing alone, the instruction demanded would be confusing.

App. p. 524.

Contrary to the lower court's findings, Petitioner has not alleged that the instruction should have been given standing alone, but that it should have been given in conjunction with the instruction on the inference of malice. Interestingly, trial counsel did not dispute that the permissive inference instruction should have been given and acknowledged that he was aware of the case law addressed above while on the stand at the evidentiary hearing. App. pp. 454-455. Specifically, he testified: "I cannot think of why I didn't ask him for that further charge."<sup>1</sup> App. p. 455, ln. 9-10.

A trial attorney's failure to object to the lack of a general permissive inference instruction when it is warranted constitutes deficient conduct. *Gibson v. State*, 416 S.C. 260, 786 S.E.2d 121 (2016). Petitioner submits that the general permissive inference instruction should have been given during the murder charge when the trial court instructed the jury that "malice may also be inferred from conduct that shows a total disregard for human life." App. p. 317, lns. 4-5. At the evidentiary hearing, counsel did not make the erroneous legal conclusions made by the lower court and admitted that he had no reason for not requesting the charge. Therefore, Petitioner submits that the lower court erred when he failed to find that counsel was deficient when he did not enter an objection or exception when the trial court failed to give the complete and proper instruction to the jury.

Turning to the question of prejudice, the court "must decide whether the erroneous malice instruction contributed to the jury's verdict based on all the evidence presented to the jury." *Gibson* at 265, 786 S.E.2d at 265. "The Court must weigh the significance of the presumption to the jury against the other evidence of malice

---

<sup>1</sup> The Order of Dismissal misstates this testimony as follows: "At the evidentiary hearing, Trial Counsel could not think of any reason to request any further jury instructions regarding the inference of malice." App. p. 524.

considered by the jury without the erroneous malice charge.” *Id.* Here, the lower court did not conduct the analysis set forth in *Gibson* but concluded:

The Court finds there is no reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different if only Counsel had requested, and the trial court had charged the jury with a naked general permissive inference instruction. Thus, Applicant cannot meet his burden of showing *Strickland* prejudice.

App. p. 525.

Regarding the evidence offered at trial, Deon Myers (victim) was shot and killed in a club called the Ghost Den in Plantersville on March 15, 2011. App. pp. 90, 97. As highlighted by defense counsel and addressed in the appellate brief, the State offered only three of the twenty people in the club as witnesses at trial, and each of the witnesses were inconsistent and had some family or longstanding connection to each other and the other parties involved.<sup>2</sup> Nevertheless, the three witnesses all agreed that Lavern Holmes (Lavern) came into the club with a shotgun threatening victim. From there the details were inconsistent, especially regarding Petitioner’s level of involvement and the witnesses’ ability to identify Petitioner as the one that shot victim in the club.

Terrell Myers testified he was working at the Ghost Den, and victim (his brother) came in with two females. App. p. 91. Twenty to twenty five minutes later, Lavern came in with a shotgun, went straight for his brother, his brother worked his way to the bathroom to get away, and Shaquettia Holmes broke it all up. App. pp. 91-92. As his brother was leaving the bathroom and was midway through the club, a short guy with a

---

<sup>2</sup> The three witnesses were Shaquettia Holmes, Cameron Green and Terrell Myers. As came out at trial and was addressed in the appellate brief, Terrell Myers worked at the club and had known Lavern Holmes his entire life. App. pp. 90-91. Terrell’s cousin (Kawaun Myers) was with Lavern, he was related to Cameron Green and victim was Terrell’s brother. App. pp. 90-91, 102-103, 128. Shaquettia Holmes was Lavern’s niece and she said she had grown up with Cameron Green. App. pp. 128-129. Cameron Green believed he was but could not say exactly how he was related to Lavern Holmes and Kawaun Meyers. App. p. 156-157.

red bandana covering his face entered the club with a handgun and shot his brother. App. pp. 92-93.

On cross-examination, he testified that the person that shot his brother came in two to three minutes after Lavern.<sup>3</sup> App. pp. 106-107. He also testified that Lavern drew a shotgun at his brother and that Shaquettia stopped Lavern prior to his brother entering the bathroom. App. p. 107-108. When asked again, he explained Lavern had his gun aimed in the bathroom towards his brother, Shaquettia broke it up, and she escorted him out before the second person came in the club. App. p. 108-9, 113-15. He testified that he did not speak with law enforcement that night, but they came to his house the next day. App. pp. 115-116. He testified that he did not provide law enforcement with any information or give a recorded statement. App. p. 116.

Shaquettia Holmes testified that she was at the club with friends and described what happened as follows:

What happened from the incident that happened in the club to my knowledge is whenever my uncle came in the club he did have a big gun, and with him having the gun I was at the bar. With me being at the bar I felt as though I wasn't going to sit there and just let him do nothing stupid. So I went in the bathroom behind him and told him he need to leave him alone and go. So me telling him that, he left, but with him leaving Tamar came in the bathroom.

App. p. 123, lns. 6-13. Later, she added that when Petitioner came in she told him "that they had guns." App. p. 124, lns. 9-14. In explaining what happened next in the bathroom area, she testified:

Okay, with my uncle leaving out Tamar came in, with him coming in he was saying Deon was good, I was telling Deon no because he didn't have a gun and they had guns and he was like "Yeah, he good," let him go see what they talking about. He insisted on leaving. With him leaving before

---

<sup>3</sup> On redirect and recross, he testified that three minutes was a guess. App. pp. 118-119.

he got to the front door, with Tamar leaving out first and before Deon got to the door whatever happened with the gunshot that's what.

App. p. 125, ln. 17-25. When asked if she knew where Petitioner was when she heard the gunshot, she responded: "No, because he left out first." App. p. 126, lns. 17-19.

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