STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 31 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Georgetown County
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable William H. Seals, PCR Judge

TAMAR YARON BRYANT

PETITIONER

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000590

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM H. RAY
Assistant Attorney General
Bar No. 104476

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The first prong—constitutional deficiency—is “necessarily linked to the practice and expectations of the legal community.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010). In order to prove deficient performance, the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below an

objective standard of “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117-18, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

The second, or “prejudice” prong of *Strickland* is rooted in the very purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel—to ensure a defendant has the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding. *Id.* at 691-92. In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must demonstrate counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability “sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Thus, it is not enough “to show the errors had some conceivable effect” on the outcome of the proceeding—counsel’s errors must be “so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial.” *Id.* at 687 (emphasis added).

Strickland “does not guarantee perfect representation . . . only a ‘reasonably competent attorney.’” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 687). Representation is constitutionally ineffective only if counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process” that the defendant was denied a fair proceeding. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686. Just as there is “no expectation that competent counsel will be a flawless strategist or tactician, an attorney may not be faulted for a reasonable miscalculation or lack of foresight or for failing to prepare for what appear to be remote possibilities.” *Harrington*, 562 U.S. at 110.

Accordingly “[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or an

adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; see also *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 6 (2003) ("The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight."). Unlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant proceedings; knew of materials outside the record; and interacted with the client, opposing counsel, and the judge. Thus, the question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under "prevailing professional norms," not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom. *Id.* (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690).

Thus, a fair assessment of attorney performance requires every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspectives at the time. *Id.* Because of the difficulties inherent in making such an evaluation, the reviewing court must indulge in a "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 445, 334 S.E.2d at 816. The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Reviewing courts "must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed at the time of counsel's conduct." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. An applicant making a claim of ineffective assistance "must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment." *Id.* The reviewing court must then "determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Id.*

The *Strickland* standard must be applied with scrupulous care, lest “intrusive post-trial inquiry” threaten the integrity of the very adversary process the right to counsel is meant to serve. 466 U.S. at 689-90; see also *Harrington*, 562 U.S. at 105 (cautioning that an ineffective assistance of counsel claim could potentially function as a way to escape rules of waiver and forfeiture and raise issues not presented at trial). Even under *de novo* review, the standard for judging counsel’s representation is a most deferential one.

The performance and prejudice standards, however, “do not establish mechanical rules; [t]he ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.” *Id.* at 696. Moreover, “there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one.” *Id.* at 697. The court “need not determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. *Id.* If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, the court may evaluate the prejudice prong only. *Id.*

Petitioner argues his trial counsel was ineffective by failing to object or enter an exception to the jury instruction on inferred malice for lacking the general permissive inference instruction. Petitioner asserts that a charge on inferred malice must detail the circumstances from which malice may be inferred, as well as an instruction that the inference of malice is to be treated as an evidentiary fact to be considered and weighed by the jury alongside the other evidence. Petitioner argues that the trial judge did not properly instruct the jury, his trial counsel’s performance was deficient when he failed to object, and he was prejudiced by this failure because the evidence supporting a finding of inferred malice was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the State’s

evidence. The PCR Court then failed in finding that the instruction was unnecessary, as it is only required when a jury is instructed to infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon, and giving it in this case would have only confused the jury. The PCR Court also failed in finding that Petitioner was not prejudiced, as there was no reasonable probability that the outcome of trial would have been different had the instruction been given. Respondent submits that this argument is without merit and this Court should deny certiorari.

A. Petitioner cannot show that trial counsel's performance was deficient because the jury instructions were proper, as they did not suggest any specific facts of the case permitted a permissive inference of malice.

The PCR court's findings should be upheld because Petitioner has failed to meet the burden imposed upon him to prove that his counsel's performance was deficient because the jury instructions were proper, thereby absolving trial counsel of the need to object. Petitioner argues that an attorney is always deficient for failing to object to an inferred malice instruction that lacks the general permissive inference instruction. However, an objection to such a charge is only warranted when the instruction's language risks shifting the burden of proof from the State to the defendant. Such was not the case here, and therefore no objection from Petitioner's trial counsel was necessary. Because trial counsel did not need to object, his failure to do so cannot possibly be considered deficient performance under *Strickland*.

The general permissive inference instruction's intent is to prevent the burden shifting effects of inferred malice instructions by clarifying to the jury that it may determine the weight of such an inference. *Gibson v. State*, 416 S.C. 260, 264, 786 S.E.2d 121, 123 (2016); *State v. Elmore*, 279 S.C. 417, 308 S.E.2d 781 (1983) (overruled on other grounds). The classic example of the general permissive inference instruction curing the risk of burden shifting is the case where a jury is charged with inferring malice solely from evidence that a defendant used a deadly weapon to

commit a homicide. *See State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009) (finding that the general permissive inference instruction must be given when the jury is instructed to infer malice from the intentional use of a deadly weapon.); *But see also State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019) (finding that a deadly weapon malice instruction is improper, even with the general permissive inference instruction). This Court has explicitly found that a “trial judge’s instruction on the presumption of malice from the use of a deadly weapon constituted a mandatory presumption rather than a permissive inference” and therefore necessitates the general permissive inference instruction. *Elmore*, 279 S.C. at 421, 308 S.E.2d at 784. Regardless of whether the court instructs the jury on the use of a deadly weapon, an “appropriate instruction on implied malice would deal with the evidentiary nature of the presumption and that the implication does not require the jury to infer malice but only permits it.” *State v. Mattison*, 276 S.C. 235, 238, 277 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1981).

At the time of Petitioner’s trial, a jury instruction on implied malice derived from the use of a deadly weapon was prohibited when the defense presented evidence that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the killing. *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 610, 685 S.E.2d 809. A Maryland Court has referred to this as a “half-truth” because malice includes the absence of justification, excuse, and mitigation. *Glenn v. State*, 68 Md.App. 379, 511 A.2d 1110 (1986). Since Petitioner’s trial, such an instruction has been explicitly disallowed by this Court. *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 504, 832 S.E.2d at 583. It was said to be particularly harmful because it amounts to a direct commentary and emphasis on certain facts of the case by the trial court. *Id.* 427 S.C. at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 582.

Specifically, there is no error despite the lack of a general permissive inference instruction where the “instructions on the law of implied malice made it clear that any presumption or inference of malice was rebuttable and whether malice had been proved was an issue of fact for

the jury to determine under all of the evidence.” *Mattison*, 276 S.C. at 238, 277 S.E.2d at 600. It is clear that the general permissive inference instruction is not itself a mandatory instruction that must be given every time a jury is instructed on implied malice. Instead, it is necessary to ensure that the presumption of malice, when inferred through evidence other than the defendant’s express actions, may nevertheless be rebutted by other evidence presented by the defense.

In the trial court’s prescience, no instruction on inferred malice from the use of a deadly weapon was given, despite the fact that Petitioner presented no evidence reducing, mitigating, excusing, or justifying his killing of Deon Myers. Rather than emphasizing or commenting upon certain facts by instructing the jury on the use of a deadly weapon, the trial judge stated that “a trial judge cannot intimate, state, comment on or make any statement to a trial jury about the facts in a case.” (App. 309, 11-13). The judge went on to explain that “[a]s jurors it is your duty to determine the effect, value, weight and truth of the evidence presented during this trial.” (App. 309, 20-22). He continued by stating that the jurors “should weigh all of the evidence in the case” and then, “after weighing all the evidence if you are not convinced of the guilt of the Defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant not guilty.” (App. 312, 14-17). Finally, the judge stated that “[m]alice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life” but stopped short of alluding to any evidence in the case that may support said inference.

Petitioner’s argument assumes that an objection was required because the instruction did not contain the general permissive inference instruction. This argument misses the mark because the general permissive inference instruction is itself curative. It clarifies to the jury that any inference of malice derived from the evidence is a presumption that may be rebutted by other evidence. No “general permissive inference” instruction is necessary without an instruction that specific facts of the case can give rise to a permissible inference of malice.

Here, Petitioner’s argument puts the cart before the horse by presupposing burden shifting language in the trial court’s charge to the jury. Petitioner cites no specific language in the instructions where the court supposedly shifted the burden of proving or disproving malice. Instead, Petitioner simply asserts that the general permissive inference instruction was needed because the court stated that malice could be inferred from conduct that shows a total disregard for human life. This argument clearly fails because a conclusion that one acted with total disregard for human life is a conclusion reached upon consideration of the facts and evidence, rather than a fact itself. Therefore, the trial court’s instructions were proper.

Because the court’s instructions were proper, Petitioner’s trial counsel was not obligated to object. Without more, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of showing that trial counsel’s performance was deficient. This Court should deny certiorari and uphold the PCR court’s findings.

B. Petitioner cannot show prejudice from trial counsel’s failure to object to the implied malice instruction because any error with its precise wording was rendered harmless in light of the entirety of the jury instructions.

The PCR court’s findings should be upheld because Petitioner has failed to meet the burden imposed upon him to prove that he was prejudiced by his counsel’s allegedly deficient performance. Petitioner attempts to minimize the evidence against him to frame his conviction as the direct product of the jury instructions and nothing else.

An erroneous instruction alone is insufficient to warrant reversal. *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 496, 832 S.E.2d 575, 578 (2019). “Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis.” *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809. An erroneous jury instruction constitutes grounds for reversal only if the appellant can show prejudice from the erroneous instruction. *Sulton v. HealthSouth Corp.*, 400 S.C. 412, 416, 734 S.E.2d 641, 643 (2012) (citing *Ellison v. Simmons*, 238 S.C. 364, 372, 120 S.E.2d 209, 213 (1961)). “When considering

whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must ‘determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.’” *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014) (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 144-45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)). This is to be done by reviewing the trial court’s charge in its entirety. *Burdette*, 427 S.C. at 498, 832 S.E.2d at 580. “In making a harmless error analysis, our inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” *Id.* (quoting *Kerr*, 330 S.C. at 145, 498 S.E.2d at 218).

As discussed above, the trial court’s jury instructions did not comment on or emphasize any facts of the case. Nowhere did the court state that the jury could permissibly infer malice from any specific piece of evidence. When read in its entirety, the court’s charge to the jury clearly instructed it to weigh the evidence as it deemed appropriate. Any error in the precise wording of the implied malice charge must therefore be considered harmless. This Court should deny certiorari.

C. Even assuming the instruction was improper, Petitioner cannot show that he was prejudiced by the jury instructions because of the significant evidence that he killed Deon Myers with malice aforethought.

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